FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/24/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
Court of Appeal Cause No. 8462307 Washington
4/24/2023 4:41 PM

101930-1

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Moon Hur & Seungja Hong, Petitioner

v.

Patti Kim, Respondent

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tuella O. Sykes, P.O. Box, 3322, Seattle, WA 98114 WSBA, No. 36179

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff, Patti Kim (hereafter "Kim or "Plaintiff"), filed a Complaint against Moon Hur & Seungja Hong ("hereafter Hur" or "Defendants") on August 17, 2020 for an Unlawful Detainer Action in the Pierce County Superior Court. (CP 1-4). The two parties entered into an option to purchase of property where Hur currently reside commonly known as 1106 E 52<sup>nd</sup> St Tacoma, WA 98404 (hereafter the "Property" or "Subject Property"). Hur & Hong filed a separate counterclaim & answer to Kim's Complaint on September 30, 2020. Their claims included the following: (1) Breach of Contract; (2) Unjust Enrichment; (3) Conversion; (4) Fraudulent Inducement; (5) Violations of the Consumer Protections Act; (6) Injunctive Relief; & (7) Negligent Misrepresentation. The Superior Court granted Kim's Motion for Writ on October 1, 2020 & the unpublished decision of the Court of the Appeals noted that the commissioner found Hur:

"failed to show cause why possession of the" residence "should not be returned to" Kim & entered an order for the court clerk to issue a writ of restitution directing the Pierce County Sheriff to evict Hur from the residence. Hur moved to revise the commissioner's decision, which a judge subsequently denied, in December 2020. Hur then sought discretionary review of the order denying revision."

Kim moved to dismiss Hur's counterclaims on summary judgment on April 8,

2021. Due to Hur's counsel's illness no response to the motion to dismiss was filed. Hur's counsel emailed the Court regarding her illness & filed a Motion for Continuance on May 5, 2021 pursuant to CR 56(f) & CR 6, citing excusable neglect, but it was subsequently not heard as it was not confirmed as Hur's counsel's acute illness continued. A Motion to continue the trial was filed on May 24, 2021 which was later granted & continued to October 13, 2021. The Superior Court denied Hur's motion for reconsideration asserting CR 59(a)(7), CR 59(a)(9), & CR 54(b) claims & noted CR 60(b) on June 2, 2021 which was (27 days after the May 6, 2021 order of dismissal) as untimely.

The Court of Appeals incorrectly held that: "Hur's reply brief on appeal asserts that they have a viable claim for 'excusable neglect' with regard to the late filing of their motion for reconsideration. We decline to consider this argument for two reasons. First, this issue is raised for the first time on appeal. See RAP 2.5(a) view any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court')." The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals is directly contrary to this Court's decision where "RAP 2.5(a) provides that if a party fails to raise an issue in the trial court, the appellate court may decline to review the issue on appeal. However, the rule's use of the term "may" indicates that it is a discretionary decision to refuse review. *Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wash.2d 33, 39, 123 P.3d 844 (2005). Nothing in RAP 2.5(a) expressly prohibits an

appellate court from accepting review of an issue not raised in the trial court. *Id. State v. Russell*, 171 Wash.2d 118, 249 P.3d 604 (Wash. 2011).

The conflict with *Roberson*, & numerous Appellate Court decisions applying the same rule, is significant because the decision below denies Hur of his viable claim of their "excusable neglect" & thereby establishes a basis for appellate relief. Given the importance of the "excusable neglect" claim in Hur's appeal, the court's error raises issues as it is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. It warrants review & correction by this Court.

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Moon Hur & Seungja Hong asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision March 24, 2023 termination review designated in Part B of this petition.

#### III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On January 30, 2023, the Court of Appeals, Division I, issued a decision affirming the trial court's orders regarding: (1) granting Patti Kim's Motion to Dismiss Hur's Counterclaims on summary judgment; (2) Denying Hur's June 2, 2021 Motion for Reconsideration; (3) Denying Hur's September 2021 request for a continuance of trial date; (4) Hur's Challenge to Trial Court's

October 2021 Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law Appendix C pages 13 - 17; (4) Denial of Motion of Reconsideration. On March 24, 2023 the Court of Appeals, Division I, issued a decision denying Moon Hur & Seungja Hong's Motion for Reconsideration. A copy of the decision is in Appendix A at pages 1 through 11. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration is in Appendix B at pages 12.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming that the trial court's, 12(b)(6) motion converted to a summary judgment, to Kim was proper regardless of whether the opposing party submitted responding materials or whether Kim met her initial burden of showing the absence of an issue of material fact. *Jacobsen v. State*, 89 Wash.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977); see also Baldwin, 112 Wash.2d at 132, 769 P.2d 298.
- 2. Whether the trial court committed error by failing to consider Hur's Motion to Continue Trial & entering Finding & Facts & Conclusions of Law following trial on October 13, 2021.
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals committed an error by failing to consider issues raised by the Petitioner where the Petitioner's raises issues in their reply brief in direct response to the issues in the brief to which the reply brief is directed. RAP 10.3(c).
- 4. Whether the Court of Appeals committed an error by failing to consider the Petitioner's viable claim for "excusable neglect" that was first raised on appeal but raised in the Petitioner's reply brief in direct response to the issues in brief to which the reply brief is directed. RAP 2.5(a).
- 5. Whether the trial court committed error by failing to consider Hur's excusable neglect claim.

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Moon Hur & Seungja Hong enter into a Option to Purchase Agreement with Patti Kim.

Hur & Kim entered into option to purchase agreement on August 15, 2016 for a total of \$150,000. Separate from this option agreement Hur was renting the Property from Kim for \$1,000.00 per month. Hur continues to reside in the property. (CP 101, 103, 190-191, 193-194, 732 - 734). Hur made the following payments towards the "option to purchase agreement": an (1) initial down payment of \$12,000.00 on August 15, 2016, (2) \$10,000.00 on September 8, 2017;(3) \$8,000.00 on December 23, 2017; (4) \$10,000.00 on May 28, 2018; & (5) \$10,000.00 on July 28, 2018 & \$10,000.00 in July 2019 which were all accepted in cash by Kim. (CP 183, 193 – 194, 190 – 191, 771 - 784).

All these payments were made by Hur & accepted by Kim & memorialized in an email sent by Kim to Hur. (CP 78, 725 – 726, 728 – 730, 2340, 2341, 2356 - 2358). A final payment of \$90,000.00 was remaining to be paid as noted in Kim's July 31, 2019 email. (CP 733 – 734). In this email Kim states, "thank you for paying...you'll repay real soon." (CP 184 – 85, 732 – 734). Hur obtained a \$90,000.00 loan, he made the final payment for the purchase of the Subject Property on January 28, 2020. (CP 803). Kim refused

to pick up the final payment. (CP 805). On February 14, 2020 Hur received an email from Kim & her realtor stating that the Property had been listed & the realtor Mr. Yun could assist with them getting a loan "[i]f you want to buy this property." (CP 486). This was in clear breach of Hur & Kim's option to purchase agreement that Hur & Kim entered into in September of 2016. Ms. Kim never accepted Mr. Kim's final \$90,000 payment (CP 805, 803). Instead, Ms. Kim filed the Unlawful Detainer Action which is the subject of this appeal. (CP 1-4).

#### **B.** Patti Kim Files Unlawful Detainer Action in Pierce County

When Kim brought suit against Hur for Unlawful Detainer Action she alleged, she was the owner of the real property located at 1106 E. 52<sup>nd</sup>. (CP 1 – 4). Kim failed to allege that Hur & Kim had entered into an option to purchase agreement which she had accepted a total of \$60,000.00 payments from Hur prior to filing suit. (CP 78, 725 – 726, 728 – 730).

Kim failed to allege that she had agreed to accept Hur's final \$90,000.00 to consummate the option to purchase agreement of the Subject Property. (CP 184 – 85, 732 – 734). Kim failed to allege that rather than consummate the agreement with Hur she listed the property for sale. (CP 181, 187 – 188, CP, 324). Kim failed to alleged that her notice of intent to sell failed to meet the

Governor's Proclamation 20-19.5 requirements as the letter was not a signed affidavit under penalty of perjury. (CP 324).

#### C. Kim Files 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss Hur's Counter Claims

Kim filed a 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss Hur's Counter Claims, which was converted to a summary judgment, in April of 2020. Hur failed to file an answer to Kim's motion & the trial entered an Order of dismissal of partial counterclaims on May 6, 2021 (CP 1013 - 106). In that Order the Court found that Hur failed to make a response to Ms. Kim's Motion to Dismiss & dismissed Hur's counterclaims with prejudice. (CP 1017 at¶ 25, ¶ 28).

The second Discretionary Review was filed on June 7, 2021 where Hur sought review of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration & the Motion to Dismiss entered on May 6, 2021, (CP 1470 – 1488). The other Discretionary Review was consolidated into this appeal. (CP 2488).

# D. The Court of Appeals Did Not Reach a Decision on the Motion to Change Trial Date September 2021.

Hur filed a Motion to Change the Trial (hereafter "Motion For Continuance") Date on September of 2021 & provided proof to the trial court of their counsel's acute illness for trial scheduled for October 13, 2021. (CP 1639 – 1896). The Court of Appeals noted in footnote 4 that "Kim did not object to this portion the opening brief as outside the scope of the assignment

of error." (App. 4). The trial court's denied the Motion For Continuance in its Orders on Motions Heard 9/24/2021. (CP 1920- 1921). "Grant or denial of a continuance is a discretionary ruling because the court must consider various factors, such as diligence, materiality, due process, a need for an orderly procedure, & the possible impact of the result on the trial." *State v. Guajardo*, 50 Wash.App. 16, 19, 746 P.2d 1231 (1987). Here, the denial of Hur's September 2021 Motion For Continuance was prejudicial to his trial preparation as his attorney was acutely ill. Hur's counsel, via supporting declarations, provided the Court with supporting documentation of her acute illness which required a short trial continuance. (CP 1585, 1586, 1589, 1596, 1598). *In the Matter of The Recall of Mark E. Lindquist*, 172 Wash.2d 120, 258 P.3d 9 (Wash. 2011).

The trial court abused its discretion by refusing to grant a short continuance due to the counsel's illness. The denial of Hur's Motion to continue the trial impacted the entry of trial court's Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law, on October of 2021, & Judgment as Hur & Hur's counsel had fewer pre-trial time, due to his counsel illness, which placed him at a disadvantage. Hur's counsel provided specific documentation of her illness & it was clear that the trial could not move forward. (CP 1639 – 1896). A short continuance would have been reasonable as cause clearly existed for a

continuance. CR 40(d). By denying Hur's continuance it prejudiced Hur's ability to prepare for pre-trial matters, prior to trial as well as negatively impacted the entry of the Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law & Judgment on October 22, 2021 as counsel was acutely ill. (CP 2362 – 2363). The trial court abused its discretion in denying a continuance.

#### E. Trial on Damages October 2021

A bench trial was held on October 13 - 14, 2021 on the issue of damages. After briefing from the parties on the issue of the "option to purchase payments" Hur made to Kim the trial court determined that "the \$60,000 is not before this Court & the Court will not consider it in making a decision in this case any further." (RP 107, 190). The trial court went on to state the reason the issue of the \$60,000 payment was not before the court "[a]nd that is because there's no record or payment in this case of this other contract or agreement relating to the property." (RP 190).

Mr. Hur's briefed the issue regarding Ms. Kim testifying that she accepted payments from Mr. Hur, in cash, that were not rental payments. (CP 2299; RP 123, 124). Ms. Kim testified that Mr. Hur made rental payments in the form of cash & checks for the Subject Property. (RP 123, 124). This evidence was relevant as Kim accepted Hur's rental payments & option to purchase payments in cash & check since 2016. All relevant evidence is admissible under ER 402.

Hur raised the issue of relevant evidence in his response to Kim's Motion in Limine. (CP 2265).

A judgment was entered in favor of Ms. Kim, on October 22, 2021, with the principal amount of \$40,800 & statutory attorney's fees of \$200.00. Hur then filed a Motion for reconsideration on October 2021 which was denied on October 2021. (CP 2367 – 2375, 2404 – 2407). The trial court entered its Findings of Facts & Conclusions of Law on October 22, 2021 (CP 2362 – 2363). (Appendix C). Hur subsequently filed a Notice of Appeal on November 4, 2021 (CP 2427 – 2429). The trial court's entry of final judgment & findings of facts should be reviewed by this court de novo. Rainier View Court Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. Zenker, Wn.App. 710, 719, 238 P.3d 1217 (2010). The standard of review for a trial court's findings of fact is under a substantial evidence standard, defined as a quantum of evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person that the premise is true. Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. Chelan County, 141 Wash.2d 169, 176, 4 P.3d 123 (2000). The standard of review for questions of law & conclusions of law de novo. Veach v. Culp, 92 Wash.2d 570, 573, 599 P.2d 526 (1979). Rainier View Court, 157 Wn.App. 710, 719, 238 P.3d 1217.

Mr. Hur is entitled to a new trial as the trial court erred when it entered judgment in favor of Ms. Kim & awarded damages of \$40,800 & attorney fees

of \$200. Here, is a sufficient quantum of evidence in the record to persuade a reasonable person that the declared premise, here that Ms. Kim breached the option to purchase agreement, is true. (CP 805, 803, CP 183, 193 – 194, 190 – 191, 771 - 784)) *Wilson, 87 Wash. App.* at 200-01, 940 P.2d 269 (citing Penick v. Employment Sec. Dep't, 82 Wash.App. 30, 37, 917 P.2d 136, review denied, 130 Wash.2d 1004, 925 P.2d 989 (1996)). There is no way to determine what payments made to Kim were option payments or rental payments as both were made in cash & checks as both parties testified to. (RP 123, 124). The facts now in evidence clearly show that the trial court's findings of facts & conclusions of law the trial court erred in the following findings: (1) – (7); & the trial court erred by concluding as follows: (1) – (6). See Appendix C. (CP 2362 – 2363).

# F. The Court of Appeals affirms the Superior Court's denial of the motion to dismiss.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. (App. 1- 11) The Court of Appeals held "the trial court found that Hur 'failed to come forward with evidence raising a material issue of fact'...we concur that summary judgement to Kim was proper." (App. 8). In reaching this conclusion the Court of Appeals did not review the substance of Hur's argument or the underlying pleadings as the nonmoving party. (App. 8). Hur filed their motion for reconsideration asserting CR 59(a)(7) & CR 59(a)(9) claims on June 2, 2021. (App 8). In reference to Hur's motion for reconsideration the Court of Appeals stated" [t]he trial court

did not abuse its discretion by denying the motion for reconsideration. (App. 9).

#### VI. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

This Court has held that "reply brief should be limited to a response to the issues in the brief..." *State v. Hudson*, 124 Wn.2d 107, 874 P.2d 160 (Wash. 1994). The Court of Appeals has repeatedly applied the same rule, which is consistent with that applied by federal courts. *See*, *e.g. Folkertsma v. Top*, *No. 58374-3-1* (Wash. App. 7/9/2007) (Wash. App. 2007), *McPhee v. Steinhauer Family Investments, LLC*, No. 37977-5-II (Wash. App. 4/13/2010) (Wash. App. 2010), *Johnson v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 126 Wash.App. 510, 108 P.3d 1273 (Wash. App. 2005), *King Cnty. Pub. Hosp. v. Wash. State Nurses Ass'n* (Wash. App. 2022), *Hong v. Hong* (Wash. App. 2010), *In re Burton* (Wash. App. 2023), *Hollis v. Snohomish Cnty. Med. Examiner's Office* (Wash. App. 2019).

In this case, however, the Court of Appeals created a conflict with all of those decisions. In an unpublished opinion, as "Hur did not oppose Kim's motion...the trial court found that Hur 'failed to come forward with evidence raising a material issue of fact." (App 8). But the assumption was contrary to the undisputed evidence submitted with the motion to dismiss & the underlying pleadings that were part of the lawsuit.

Specifically, Kim raised a new legal theory of "excusable neglect" in her responsive brief. RAP 10.3(b). (RB 23 - 30). In Hur's reply brief he directly replied to Kim's new legal theory RAP10.3(c). (Reply Brief 2, 9, 19-20). The disregarded evidence presented during the appeal in direct reply to Kim's legal theory of "excusable neglect" in her responsive brief simply cannot be ignored. As Hur brief addressed that legal theory in his reply brief. As noted in the Appellate Court's footnote 7. (App. 9). The Court of Appeals disregarded Hur's "excusable neglect" argument in his reply brief. The Court of Appeals disregarded & held, contrary to Ainsworth, that "reply brief is limited to a response to the issues in the responding brief' which is what Hur asserted by replying to Kim's "excusable neglect" claim in his reply brief. Ainsworth v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co., 180 Wash.App. 52, 322 P.3d 6 (Wash. App. 2014). App (8 - 9).

The conflict created by the Court of Appeals is itself sufficient to make its decision worth of review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (b)(2). The case also warrants review because ensuring the proper standard for evaluating the enforceability "option to purchase" agreements which is a matter of public interest & contractual predictability. RAP 13.4(b)(4). *Corinthian Corp. v. White & Bollard, Inc.*, 442 P.2d 950, 74 Wn.2d 50 (Wash. 1968). The decision below undermines that predictability by failing any plaintiff to avoid a valid

"option to purchase agreement" through pleading. This warrants this Court's review & correction.

# A. In ruling on a 12(c) summary judgment motion, a court should consider facts submitted & the reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.

This Court has held in evaluating a summary judgment motion "the burden is on the moving party to demonstrate that there is no genuine issue as to a material fact & that, as a matter of law, summary judgment is proper." See, Hartley v. State, 103 Wash.2d 768, 774, 698 P.2d 77 (1985)."Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Directors v. Blume Development Co., 799 P.2d 250, 115 Wn.2d 506 (Wash. 1990). In Kim's motion she noted included a copy of Hur's Answer & counter claim as appendix of her Motion to Dismiss. (CP 934 – 947). Kim also included a copy of the receipt provided to Hur towards the initial payment of the option to purchase of the Subject Property in her Motion to Dismiss as Appendix 2. (CP 948 – 949) Additionally, she included the final payment Hur attempted to make to Kim which was also attached as Appendix 3 to Ms. Kim Motion to Dismiss (CP 950 – 951). Kim's own declaration raises material issues of fact as she states the following:

"I offered to sell him the house for \$150,000 if he completed payment within 2 years. There was no written agreement although I did put those terms into an email...The email is dated September 11, 2016 & it I gave Mr. Hur up to 2 years to complete payment." (CP 952 - 953)."

The last date when Kim accepted payment from Hur was on July 31, 2019. (CP 734). This is two years & eleven months from the date she purports the option to purchase contract ended in support of her Motion to Dismiss from the beginning of their agreement on August 2016. (CP 952 – 953). Hur had a viable claim for his "option to purchase agreement" with Kim for the Subject Property. This Court has held that "[a]n option to purchase property is a contract wherein the owner, in return for a valuable consideration, agrees with another person that the latter shall have the Privilege of buying the property Within a specified time upon the terms & conditions expressed in the option." *McFerran v. Heroux*, 44 Wash.2d 631, 638, 269 P.2d 815 (1954), & authorities cited. Corinthian Corp. v. White & Bollard, Inc., 442 P.2d 950, 74 Wn.2d 50 (Wash. 1968).

The Court of Appeals has repeatedly applied the same rule on ruling on a motion to dismiss: [t]he moving party is held to a strict standard. Any doubts as to the existence of a genuine issue of material fact is resolved against the moving party. In addition, we consider all the facts submitted & the reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. E.g., Citizens for Clean Air v. Spokane, 114 Wash.2d 20, 38, 785 P.2d 447 (1990). Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Directors v. Blume Development Co., 799 P.2d 250, 115 Wn.2d 506 (Wash. 1990). "When

determining whether an issue of material fact exists, all facts & inferences are construed in favor of the nonmoving party. *Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 146 Wn.2d 291, 300, 45 P.3d 1068 (2002)." Tahoma Audubon Soc'y v. Wash. Dep't of Ecology (*Washington Pollution Control Hearings Board*, 2022).

No consideration was given to the calculation of time raised in Kim's own declaration in support of the motion to dismiss. (CP 952 – 953). A genuine issue of material fact existed, regarding the time period of Hur & Kim's option to purchase agreement, & Kim's Motion to Dismiss should have been denied. This issue should have been considered by the Court of Appeals & the trial court "'[i]n reviewing a motion for summary judgment, all facts & reasonable inferences are reviewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.' *Dowler v. Clover Park Sch. Dist.* No. 400, 172 Wn.2d 471, 485, 258 P.3d 676 (2011). '..." *Hill & Stout, PLLC v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co.* (Wash. 2022)

The proper standard for review with "[a] grant of summary judgment is reviewed de novo, with the court engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. *TracFone Wireless, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 170 Wash.2d 273, 280–81, 242 P.3d 810 (2010); *Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wash.*2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982)." *Wash. Imaging Serv. Llc* v. *Wash. State Dep't of Revenue*, 171 Wash.2d 548, 252 P.3d 885 (Wash. 2011). The Appellate Court however, concurred that summary judgment to Kim was proper as "the trial court found

that Hur 'failed to come forward with evidence raising a material issue of fact.'" (App. 8).

# B. Hur Replied Directly To Kim's New Legal Theory "Excusable Neglect" In Their Reply Brief. Their "Excusable Neglect" Legal Theory Should Be Accepted As A Viable Legal Theory.

Specifically, this Court has declined to hear a late filed issue, as noted in *Hudson*. Particularly "by the fact that the State, being unaware of Hudson's state constitutional claim, never engaged in state constitutional analysis in its briefing." *State v. Hudson*, 124 Wn.2d 107, 874 P.2d 160 (Wash. 1994). However, that is not the fact of this case where Kim briefed the issue of "excusable neglect", cited pleadings, & facts of the case, for nearly six pages of her responsive briefing. But the Court of Appeals still failed to review Hur's viable "excusable neglect" claim with regard to their motion for reconsideration on Kim's Motion to Dismiss. (App. 9).

Kim briefed the excusable neglect theory in her responsive brief & cites *Munoz* for denying this theory (RB 23 – 30). *Munoz v. Bean*, 192 Wash. App. 1060, 2016 WL 885043 (2016). Kim briefed the issue of "excusable neglect for over six (6) pages in her responsive brief. The Appellate Court declined to consider Hur's argument even though it was in direct reply to Kim.

Hur raised the issue regarding his counsel's illness in their Motion for Continuance of Trial, filed on May 5, 2021, & raised the claim of "excusable

neglect" (CP 965 – 970) as well as part of his Motion in Limine (CP 2245 – 2247). Specifically, Hur's counsel raised CR6(b)(2) & the applicability of how the excusable neglect standard was present due to her illness with their request for a trial continuance & supporting declaration in their Motion to Continue Trial filed May 5, 2021. (CP 968 – 969, 972 - 974). However, due to her continued illness this Motion was not confirmed.

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