FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/17/2023 11:25 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case No. 1019301

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MOON H. HUR and SEUNGJA HONG, Petitioners

v.

PATTI KIM, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW AND MOTION FOR DISMISSAL BY COMMISSIONER AND SANCTIONS UNDER RAP 18.9

Paul E. Brain, WSBA #13438 BRAIN LAW FIRM PLLC 950 Pacific Avenue, Suite 700 Tacoma, WA 98402 Tel: 253-327-1019 Fax: 253-327-1021 Email: pbrain@paulbrainlaw.com

Counsel for Respondent

Respondents' Answer on Petition for Review 1

I. INTRODUCTION

There are three fundamental aspects to this case. The first is that there is not an issue here that has not been addressed multiple times. Aside from multiple Motions for revision and reconsideration filed before the Trial Court, this includes two Motions for Discretionary Review, the Division I Opinion - "The tenants appeal several trial court orders but fail to establish a basis for appellate relief;" at 1 and, a Motion for Reconsideration of the Division I Opinion -denied.

Although Appellant raises 5 issues, none of them are new. Issues 3, 4 and 5 are duplicative, focusing on Appellant's claim that its serial failure to comply with explicit deadlines in the Civil Rules was the result of "excusable neglect." This issue was a principal focus of the Motion for Reconsideration to Division I:

This Court should also reconsider its holdings regarding Moon Hur and Seungja Hong's preserved claim of excusable neglect regarding this Court's consideration of the motion for reconsideration of the trial court's motion to dismiss and remand this case for to the trial court for further proceedings. Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration at 27. The same arguments here have already been made and rejected by Division I.

Second, Appellant's attempt to reargue the issues before the Trial Court are irrelevant to this proceeding. The only issue presented by this Petition is whether Appellant has identified a consideration justifying further review under RAP 13.4 (b).

The Appellant's argument that the decision by Division I is in conflict with other published opinions is based on a specious mis-reading of the case law. The Court of Appeals has the discretion to overlook Appellant's failure to preserve issues on appeal. Certainly true. But, the decision by Division I not to exercise that discretion does not create a conflict in reported case law. The Appellant conflates the ability to exercise discretion with the decision not to do so. There is no conflict between the Opinion of Division I and other appellate opinions.

In arguing that the standard for enforceability of option agreements represents a matter of significant public interest, Appellant raises an entirely new issue for the first time in a Petition for Review. Finally, this Motion is both frivolous and, made for the purpose of delay. Respondent moves for dismissal of this Petition pursuant to RAP 18.9 (c) and for an award of sanctions pursuant to RAP 18.9 (a).

II SUPPLEMENTAL FACTS

This was an action to evict a tenant at sufferance. It has been dragging on now for three years. As Division I noted: "the record contains over 2,500 pages of clerk's papers and 200 pages of the report of proceedings." At 5. With the exception of continuance orders entered by the Trial Court– 5, there was essentially no ruling by the Trial Court which was not challenged by the Appellant with multiple Motions for revision/reconsideration and 2 separate motions for discretionary review.

Appellant filed a Motion to Modify the denial of discretionary review by this Court on 9/16/21. A Motion for Emergency Stay was denied in December 2021. Appellant sought extensions of filing deadlines before the Court of Appeals repeatedly, both on the losing effort to obtain discretionary review and, with respect to perfecting the record on review. Appellant sought extensions for perfecting the record on review on 1/5/22, 1/25/22 and 4/26/22.

The Court of Appeals repeatedly required Appellant to refile appellate briefs for failure to comply with the rules; on 8/16/22 and 10/20/22. Division I concluded that Appellant failed to comply with each of RAP 2.5, 10.3(a)(4), 10.3(g) and 10.4(c) as bases for decision rejecting Appellant's Appeal on multiple issues because Appellant failed to preserve the issues raised here for appeal.

A copy of the Judgment is included in the Appendix to the Petition for Review. A particular significance to this Petition is the following provision appearing Section II (1) (d):

Should Defendants not vacate 1106 E. 52nd St., Tacoma, Wahington by October 31,2021, the judgment shall increase by \$72.00 for every day the Defendants remain on the premises.

The Trial Court entered a supersedeas order requiring a \$95,000 bond which included rent, \$72.00 per day, over the expected lifetime of the appeal. So, while Respondent is the owner of an income property from which the Appellant was ordered to be evicted over 2 years ago, Respondent has been bearing all the costs of ownership without receiving any rent for over 2 years.¹

The objective of this Petition is to allow the Appellant to continue to occupy the subject property until the supersedeas is exhausted while continuing the burden on Respondent of covering the costs of ownership without receiving rent. This is delay for delay's sake.

III AUTHORITY AND DISCUSSION

1. <u>The Appellant has failed to identify a basis for</u> acceptance of review.

The Appellant spends a great deal of time asserting that various actions by the Trial Court were an abuse of discretion. The principal and dispositive issue in this appeal was whether the Trial Court's denial of an untimely Motion for Reconsideration was an abuse of discretion. The Motion sought reconsideration of the Appellant's failure to timely respond to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. As in Appellant's Opening Brief Reply and

¹ As of the date of this Answer, 563 days have passed since 10/31/21. At \$72 per day, this is \$0,536 in rent which Respondent has not received while Respondent continues to pay real estate taxes, insurance etc. on the property.

Motion for Reconsideration, Appellant seeks to argue the merits of the Motion to Dismiss to which Appellant failed to respond. However, as Division I noted:

> [I]n urging reversal of the trial court's ruling on reconsideration, Hur continues to argue the merits of the summary judgment decision, but that is not the proper standard of review for this sort of challenge. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying the motion for reconsideration.

At 8-9.

Appellant continues the effort to argue the merits of the underlying Motion to Dismiss in this Petition. These same arguments were rejected by Division I both in its original opinion and in the denial of the Motion for Reconsideration.

However, these arguments are simply irrelevant to the issue of whether this Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the criteria governing acceptance of review by this Court:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The only issue presented here is whether any of these considerations warrants review in this case. They do not.

As Respondent understands Appellant's brief, Appellant asserts that the decision of the Court of Appeals not to consider issues not properly perfected for appeal under RAP 2.5, 10.3(a)(4), 10.3(g) and 10.4(c) was in conflict with reported authority holding that the decision not to review issues under these rules was discretionary:

The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals is directly contrary to this Court's decision where "RAP 2.5(a) provides that if a party fails to raise an issue in the trial court, the appellate court may decline to review the issue on appeal. However, the rule's use of the term "may" indicates that it is a discretionary decision to refuse review. Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wash.2d 33, 39, 123 P.3d 844 (2005).

Appellant invokes RAP 13.4 (b)(1).

This same issue was raised in Appellant's Motion for

Reconsideration to Division I:

It is clear from the language of RAP 1.2(a), and the cases decided by this Court and the Washington State Supreme Court, that an appellate court may exercise its discretion to consider cases and issues on their merits. This is true despite one or more

technical flaws in an appellant's compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

This argument was rejected by Division I when it denied

Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration.

The reported decisions on which Appellant relies establish

nothing more than that the Court of Appeals has discretion.

In general, issues not raised in the trial court may not be raised on appeal. *See* RAP 2.5(a) (an "appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court"). However, by using the term "may," RAP 2.5(a) is written in discretionary, rather than mandatory, terms.

<u>Roberson v. Perez</u>, 156 Wash. 2d 33, 39, 123 P.3d 844, 847–48.

The argument conflates the ability to exercise discretion with a decision not to exercise discretion. It is implicit in the case law holding that a Court of Appeals may exercise discretion that the same Court can decline to exercise discretion. That Division I declined to exercise discretion does not create a conflict with case authorities on which Appellant relies.

Appellant also attempts to invoke RAP 13.4(b)(4). Appellant states: "The case also warrants review because ensuring the proper standard for evaluating the enforceability "option to purchase" agreements which is a matter of public interest & contractual predictability. RAP 13.4(b)(4). At 16. The Appellant has simply failed to identify anywhere in the record this was an issue. The standard for enforceability of option agreements was never at issue before the Trial Court. Nor at any point in this appeal prior to this Petition has the Appellant raised an issue regarding the standard for enforceability of option agreements. Appellant is improperly raising this issue for the first time in this Petition for Review.

Finally, this case has been characterized by a serial failure on the part of the Appellant to comply with the rules. This includes the repeated failure to comply with mandatory deadlines under the Superior Court rules and the failure to comply with multiple provisions of the RAP. It also includes a failure to comply with RAP prohibiting filings for the purpose of delay and/or which are frivolous and made for the sole purpose of delay.

B. <u>This Appeal should be dismissed and sanctions</u> awarded under RAP 18.9.

RAP 18.9 (a) provides:

The appellate court on its own initiative or on motion of a party may order a party or counsel ... who uses these rules for the purpose of delay, files a frivolous appeal, to pay terms or compensatory damages to any other party who has been harmed by the delay.

RAP 18.9 (b) provides: "The commissioner or clerk, on 10 days' notice to the parties, (1) may dismiss a review proceeding as provided in section (a)."

The standard governing whether an appeal is frivolous is determined by the following standard: "an appeal is frivolous if there are no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ, and it is so totally devoid of merit that there was no reasonable possibility of reversal." *Green River Community College v Higher Education Personnel Board*, 107 Wn. 2d 427 at 442-443, 730 P. 2d 53 (1986). There are no debatable issues presented here.

The purpose of this Petition is to delay resolution through the exhaustion of the supersedeas amount so Appellant can continue to occupy the subject property. Delay has been Appellant's objective throughout the course of these proceedings as amply evidenced by the procedural history described above.

Accordingly, Respondent is requesting dismissal of this Petition under RAP 18.9 (c) and an award of sanctions under RAP 13.9 (a).

The undersigned certifies this Answer contains 2137 words.

Dated this 17th day of May, 2023.

/S/Paul E. Brain, WSBA #13438 BRAIN LAW FIRM PLLC 950 Pacific Avenue, Suite 700 Tacoma, WA 98402 Tel: 253-327-1019 Fax: 253-327-1021 Email: pbrain@paulbrainlaw.com

Counsel for Respondent